ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE LABOR AND COMMERCE STANDI NG COWM TTEE
March 11, 2003
1:32 p.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or Con Bunde, Chair

Senat or Ral ph Seekins, Vice Chair
Senator Gary Stevens

Senat or Bettye Davis

Senator Hollis French

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO. 93

"An Act relating to limtations on actions to quiet title to,
eject a person from or recover real property or the possession
of it; and providing for an effective date."

HEARD AND HELD
HOUSE BI LL NO 58
"An Act relating to the reinstatenent of Native corporations;
and providing for an effective date."”
HEARD AND HELD
PREVI QUS ACTI ON

SB 93 - No previous action to consider.

HB 58 - See Community and Regional Affairs mnutes dated
2/ 26/ 03.

W TNESS REG STER

Ms. Any Seitz

Staff to Senator WAagoner

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sponsor of SB 93.

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -1- March 11, 2003



M. Russell Dick, Resources Mnhager
Seal aska Cor poration

One Seal aska Pl aza

Juneau AK 99801

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Supported SB 93.

M. Jon Tillinghast

Seal aska Cor poration

One Seal aska Pl aza

Juneau AK 99801

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Supported SB 93.

M. Peter Putzier

Assi stant Attorney General for DOI/PF
Departnent of Law

PO Box 110300

Juneau, AK 99811-0300

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Opposed SB 93.

Ms. MIlie Martin

PO Box 2652

Homer, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Commented on SB 93.

Ms. Shirley Scholl enberg

25701 Sterling Hw.

Anchor Point, AK 99556

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Comrented on SB 93.

M. M ke Downi ng, Chief Engineer
D vision of Statew de Design and Engi neering Services
Departnent of Transportation &
Public Facilities (DOI/PF)
3132 Channel Dr.
Juneau, AK 99801-7898
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Conmment ed on SB 93.

M. Larry Labolle

Staff to Representative Foster

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Commented on HB 58.

Ms. Alice Houston, Corporation Supervisor

Department of Community & Econom c Devel opnent ( DCED)
PO Box 110800

Juneau, AK 99811-0800

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE - 2- March 11, 2003



POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answer ed questions about HB 58
ACTI ON NARRATI VE
TAPE 03-10, SIDE A

SB 93- ADVERSE POSSESSI ON

CHAIR CON BUNDE called the Senate Labor and Commerce Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 1:32 p.m and announced SB 93 to
be up for consideration. Al nenbers were present.

M5. AMY SEITZ, staff to Senator Wagoner, sponsor of SB 93,
described the legislation as foll ows:

Adverse possession is a doctrine that rewar ds
possession of land at the expense of the true
| andowner. This doctrine was born 800 years ago during
the M ddle Ages under circunstances that do not apply
t oday.

During the settlenent of North Anerica, our courts and
| egi sl atures adopted the policy that it is better to
put land to use than not. Adverse possession was the
tool used to transfer title from the idle true owner
to the industrious adverse possessor, thus rewarding
squatters for making use of wild lands. Still, today,
sone feel that it is best to nake use of |and an owner
| eaves idle. However, the mpjority of undevel oped | and
belongs to the state and federal governnents. Under
existing laws, a person cannot take land from the
gover nnment through adverse possession.

SB 93 sinply accords equal dignity and protection to
the private land ownership rights by anending the
current statute that allows land to be taken by bad
faith trespassers. Because of squatters’ rights,
private | andowners in Al aska have the harsh burden of
policing their large expansive lands to insure that a
squatter has not taken up residency. This |egislation
does not touch the statute that allows adverse
possession clains to property based on color of title
and it wll not extinguish already vested adverse
possessi on cl ai ns.

VR, RUSSELL DI CK, Nat ur al Resour ces Manager , Seal aska
Cor poration, applauded Senator Wagoner's efforts to bring this

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE - 3- March 11, 2003



bill forward. Sealaska Corporation is the regional corporation
under the Alaska Native Cains Settlenent Act for Southeast
Al aska and represents over 16,000 sharehol ders. Seal aska owns
290, 000 acres of fee estate |and throughout Southeast Al aska and
has an entitlenment that is expected to reach upwards of 340,000
to 350,000 acres. Sealaska is the largest private |andowner in
Sout heast Alaska and supports the protections this bill
provi des.

MR DICK didn't think anyone would doubt the econom c burden of
actively policing large expanses of land or the fact that it is
[not] the best use of Sealaska’s econom c resources. The issue
goes beyond the corporations that have the resources to police
tracts of land; it affects small nom and pop property owners who
don't have the sane financial resources. He naintained:

The doctrine of adverse possession is inconsistent
with the recognition of private property ownership and
its associated rights. This is nmade ever nore clear
through the fact that state and federal land is inmune
to the doctrine of adverse possession due to the
expansive nature of its lands and the renoteness of
its lands and the economc burden associated wth
having to police these large tracts of Ilands. W
si mply bel i eve t hat private property owners,
regardl ess  of their Si ze, regardl ess  of their
financial resources, should be afforded those sane
protections.

CHAIR BUNDE asked what Sealaska does now to enforce a no
trespassing policy and whether it has ever had to follow through
on an adverse possessi on case.

MR DICK replied that he has been at Seal aska for six years and
knows of one case. It was not on ANGSA |and, but on sone real
estate in Cordova. Sealaska had to go through a |engthy I egal
proceeding to get the trespasser evicted from the property
before the adverse possession claim kicked in. At this point, a
| arge portion of its property is on Prince of Wales Island and
it has hired a land technician security guard to protect the
corporate assets in ternms of existing tinber operations.
However, the guard does not have the tine, a vehicle, or the
capabilities to get to renbte areas to insure that trespassers
aren't taking residence on Seal aska | ands.

SENATOR STEVENS asked how | ong a squatter has to be on the |and
to make a claim

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -4- March 11, 2003



MR DICK replied that the length of tinme for a bad faith
squatter is 10 years.

SENATOR FRENCH said this seens to be a phenonenon in the western
states where there are big land holdings. He asked if other
states have taken the sane action.

MR DICK replied the only other state he is aware of is Oregon
which inposed a requirenent that an adverse possessor nust be
acting in good faith.

MR, JON TILLINGHAST, |egal counsel to the Seal aska Corporation
informed nmenbers that this bill was introduced in a |longer form
| ast year and covered the two types of adverse possession. He
expl ai ned:

One is the squatter who sinply waits for 10 years to
pass w thout anyone noticing him The other, and
probably the nbst common in Alaska, is where soneone
builds their fence to the right of where it ought to
be built and everyone has always agreed that's the
property line, but it really isn't.

That later form of adverse possession is where the
adverse possessor acts in good faith and he acts under
color of title. In other words, he's got a deed to his
house; it's just that he built the fence in the wong
pl ace. This year the bill doesn't touch that statute.
The only ones that will be affected by this bill are
peopl e who have adversely possessed property wthout
any witten instrunent to support their claim
what soever

SENATOR FRENCH asked if SB 93 does not affect good faith
possessors.

MR, TILLINGHAST said that is correct and added that a good faith
possessor nust have a piece of paper on which the claim is
based.

SENATOR FRENCH asked if this bill would elimnate a person's
color of title or whether it allows a person to pursue it.

MR, TILLINGHAST replied that it lets a person pursue it. Al the

law requires is a witten instrument of sonme sort. He believes
the statutory |anguage that governs color of title on the basis

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE - 5- March 11, 2003



of a witten instrunment needs to be tightened up, but when
Seal aska tried to deal with that as well, the bill got too
heavy. SB 93 is nore focused.

SENATOR FRENCH said he was curious about the |anguage on page 1,
line 9, that reads, “(b) An action nmay be brought at any tine
by a person whose ownership interest in real property is
recorded under AS 40.17 to". He thought that neant property
under color of title.

MR, TILLINGHAST replied that the section that will be changed,
AS 09.10.030, talks about what the record title owner can or
can't do. Another section, AS 09.45.052, deals with "under col or
of title." The part of the statute that is being |eft untouched
says if an individual possessed title under color in good faith,
that individual will win that |awsuit.

SENATOR FRENCH asked if, wunder the new section, an action could
be taken against himat any tinme if he squatted for 20 years.

MR, TILLINGHAST said that is correct. The period for kicking
soneone off land in England used to be up to 20 years. However,
the nunber of years gets shorter as you nove west across the
United States. The tinme period is 20 years in Connecticut, but 7
or 8 years in Uah. Back in the 19th Century, Wstern state
| egislators |liked the squatters’ rights doctrine because it
enabl ed honesteaders to get land fromthe railroads.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked if the |ands Sealaska has title to are
recorded under AS 40.17.

MR. DI CK responded they are.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked if any of their recorded |ands are
ri parian | ands, navi gable streans or subnerged | ands.

MR DICK replied the corporation has l|ands existing in those
areas, but it doesn't get title to submerged |ands or navigable
streans; it gets title to the subsurface estate underneath those
streans.

SENATOR SEEKI NS asked if the corporation gets title to natural
resources under any navi gabl e streans.

MR. DICK replied yes.

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE - 6- March 11, 2003



SENATOR SEEKI NS asked by what authority. He said he didn't want
to have an inadvertently quiet title act that would cause the
state to give away sone of its |ands.

MR, TILLINGHAST said he didn't think anything in the bill would
do that. He related that when Seal aska successfully defended the
Cordova situation, Seal aska asked him how the problem could be
fixed. He responded that the state and federal governnents are
exenpt from adverse possession. Sealaska wanted to know Wy
them and not us? He answered that the rationale the state gives
is that its land holdings are largely renote and policing them
would be a financial burden, however Sealaska is in the sane
posi tion.

SENATOR SEEKINS said he agrees with M. Tillinghast. He added
that the State of Alaska doesn't have a statute that corrects
for surface novenent from earthquakes and such and he thought
t hat shoul d be addressed.

MR. PETE PUTZI ER, Assistant Attorney General, said he represents
the Departnent of Transportation and Public Facilities and that
SB 93 would do away with the doctrine of adverse possession,
whi ch has been around a long tine. Its purpose is to provide a
practical and efficient means of clearing title. He expl ai ned:

VWiile it is certainly true that Al aska does not need
to follow what other states are doing, at a mnimmit
should perhaps give the committee pause to consider
whet her doing away with adverse possession is truly in
the state's best interests....

In regards to road projects, DOl has thousands of
mles of roadway existing in Alaska and nmany of those
have been in place for over 10 years. DOT relies on
the doctrine of adverse possession all the tinme as a
neans of clearing title. That's significant for the
followng reason that over 90 percent of the road
projects and road inprovenent projects that we do are
federally funded and they cannot proceed wthout a
certification being provided to the federal governnent
that the title is clear. If the adverse possession
doctrine would be abolished, the practical inmpact to
DOT woul d potentially be to delay the road inprovenent
projects anywhere from 1 to 3 years as the title
cl earing process occurs.

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -7- March 11, 2003



As an exanple, he said DOTPF has a gravel -to-pavenent project,
which inproves gravel roads by paving them They are in the
areas of Tok, Fairbanks, Delta, Healy, Manly, Cordova and None.
An average of $7 mllion per year has been spent for the |ast
five years on road inprovenment projects. Potentially, under the
proposed changes in SB 93, those projects would either be
cancelled or delayed for years in an effort to include or
enconpass some kind of a right-of-way acquisition process. He
mai nt ai ned:

The reason is this. Currently, the state can rely on
the wunchallenged title to the roads as a neans to
provide a certification of title. In other words, the
roads have been there in excess of 10 years and DOT
then nakes the assertion under the adverse possession
doctrine that it believes that it has title - the road
existed for a long tine and we can provide this
certification. M discussions with the right-of-way
agents have indicated to nme that with this anmendnent,
they woul d not necessarily be able to do that any nore
and would have to inplenment a formal right-of-way
acquisition process. In short, the developnent and
i nprovenent of existing roads in the state could be
seriously and negatively inpacted by the proposed
change in SB 93.

| guess | would inpress upon you that title is often
not clear. There are oral conveyances or old records,
m ssing records, people die, nenories fade, surveys
may be incorrect, deed descriptions m ght be
incorrect. On a given length of road, there mght be
multiple ownership interests spanning many years
including federal interests, private interests, Native
|l and interests and so on. So any road project wll
involve an entire patchwork of ownership interests and
sonetimes for better or worse, title mght be unclear.
Now adverse possession is a practical and reasonable
means of clearing these various interests and all ow ng
the state to performval uabl e road i nprovenent worKk.

There are always going to be situations, not only now,
but in the future, where a title is unclear. Adverse
possession clears the title in essence by saying that
the road exists and is being used in sone open and
notori ous fashion and the state can rely on that as a
nmeans of providing a certification that it has
provided to the federal government. SB 93 arguably

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE - 8- March 11, 2003



would not allow that and again, for better or worse,
sonetinmes |locations of the road mght be in the wong
position for whatever reasons. DOl as a practica
matter mght be considered a bad faith squatter, but
if the road has been here for over 10 years, we can
nevert hel ess pr oceed to provi de what ever
certifications are necessary and proceed with our road
i nprovenent such as under the gravel-to-pavenent
proj ect.

| focused ny comments on DOT's interests, but the bil
woul d affect not only DOT, of course, but other public

entities as well as I|andowners across the state
Wi thout there being sone tinme period - 10 years, 15
years, 20 years - within which title can be cleared
[indisc.] effectively be left in linmnbo and w thout

adverse possession, a valuable neans of clearing title
in the state will have been | ost.

CHAIR BUNDE asked him if there is any conpromse that would
allow the state to use a specific nmechanism that wouldn't exist
for the general public.

MR. PUTZIER replied that he couldn't think of an exception that
could be carved out for DOITPF at the nonent but he woul d think
on it.

CHAIR BUNDE said it is interesting to note the state can use
adverse possession to take private land, but a private person
can't use it to take state | ands.

2:00 p.m

SENATOR SEEKINS asked if DOTPF would first |ook at recorded
deeds in a section of land it was thinking about working in.

MR. PUTZI ER responded if it's a brand new road, typically DOTPF
would go through a formal right-of-way acquisition process,
which is extrenmely long and conplicated. He was referring to
t housands of mles of existing roadway.

SENATOR SEEKI NS asked if he would only be concerned about future
roads if existing roads were grandfathered in.

MR. PUTZIER replied that he thought the sane issues would arise
on future roads, but as recordkeeping inproves with technol ogy,

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE - 9- March 11, 2003



there wll be fewer oral conveyances and |less mssing
i nformation.

SENATOR SEEKI NS asked what would happen if DOTPF just went to
the federal governnment and said it had clear title citing the
doctrine of adverse possession.

MR. PUTZIER replied that DOTPF provides certification that title
has been cleared, but doesn’'t nention wusing the adverse
possession doctrine. |If the federal agency wants background on
that determnation, it has the right to ask

SENATOR SEEKI NS asked if the federal agency nornmally asks.
MR. PUTZIER replied that he didn't think so.

SENATOR FRENCH asked if all land ownerships are recorded in
Al aska.

MR. PUTZIER replied that he didn't think so and that is part of
t he probl em

SENATOR FRENCH asked if it is possible for soneone to have a
pi ece of paper at honme saying they own a piece of land, but it
isn't recorded anywhere.

MR. PUTZIER replied that could happen, in which case he would
have to see if that piece of paper net AS 40.17, which is
referenced in (b), which would preserve the person’s right.

M5. MLLIE MARTIN said she is an interested citizen who is
representing herself. She thought elenents of this bill are
desperately needed, in particular the provision that addresses
squatters' rights. She believes it is wong that people could
live on her property for 10 years and use it as if they owned
it, although they didn't pay taxes and didn't buy it, and can
claimthe | and under present adverse possession | aws.

She asked if [SB93] would apply to prescriptive easenents as she
thought they are particularly inportant in this state. Her
concern was that it is often inpossible to access a parcel of
| and on the section line when land is being devel oped in Al aska
because of the topography. Therefore, access is built on someone
else's land and the owners cannot handshake an agreenent.
Wthout a paper trail and prescriptive easenents, a property
owner could lose the right to use their property. She concl uded,

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -10- March 11, 2003



"And so | think there is a legitimate need for prescriptive
easenents.”

M5. SHI RLEY SCHOLLENBERG an Anchor Point resident, said she
also has a concern with prescriptive easenents, especially as
they apply to trail maintenance in the Honmer area. She said she
woul dn't support this bill if it did away wth them She
supports getting rid of the idea that a person could illegally
live on anot her person’s |land and eventually own it.

CHAI R BUNDE asked Ms. Seitz to address the issue of prescriptive
easenent s.

M5. SEITZ replied that Legislative Legal and Research Services
responded to that issue this norning and it was the attorney’s
opi nion that prescriptive easenents are included in this bill

CHAI R BUNDE asked if this problem could be fixed with a |onger
time limt, such as 15 to 20 years.

M5. SEITZ replied they weren't sure of all the issues that dea
Wi th prescriptive easenent, but they are |ooking into other ways
of going about it.

MR, TILLI NGHAST explained that his coments applied to both
prescriptive easenents and the DOTPF roads. Under section 2 of
the bill, any road or public trail across private property that
has been there for 10 years is unaffected by the bill. The bil
applies only to the establishnent of new prescriptive easenents
across private property. He noted that he uses a prescriptive
easenent in Juneau on the Dan Moeller trail because it goes
t hrough soneone's private |ot.

He explained the bill says if a party wants to have a public
access point through private property or a public road through
private property, unfortunately that party will have to pay for

it. Sealaska's position is that's not a problem if people have
prospective notice of that. He felt that people like those who
testified via teleconference deserve reassurance that existing
access points through private property are not going to be
affected by the bill.

CHAIR BUNDE asked if the bill will have any retroactive inpacts
or whether it only applies to actions in the future.

MR, TILLINGHAST replied [it is prospective].

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -11- March 11, 2003



MR. M KE DOMI NG Chief Engineer, DOI/PF, said it appears that
Seal aska's attorneys and DOI/PF s attorneys have a different
view of how this bill would actually affect the highway system
If it's not going to affect the highway system DOTPF is not
concerned about it. However, right now DOTPF believes it wll.
He wanted an opportunity to get further clarify on that
questi on.

CHAIR BUNDE said that it is not his policy to nove bills out of
committee without a chance to work out issues. He announced the
bill would be held in commttee for further work.

HB 58- REI NSTATEMENT OF NATI VE CORPS

CHAI R BUNDE announced HB 58 to be up for consideration.

MR. LARRY LABOLLE, staff to Representative Foster, sponsor of HB
58, said that HB 58 deals with a perennial problem which is the
i nvoluntary dissolutionnent of Native village corporations. Sone
corporations have received certified letters that said their
incorporation expired; they then received letters that said
their grace period is lapsing. Then they are involuntarily
di ssolved and are no |onger corporations. Savoonga, a renpte
village wthout |[egal counsel , brought the situation to
Representative Foster’s attention. These corporations have
shar ehol ders and assets; returning the assets creates a problem

In the past, the Departnment of Conmerce and Econom c Devel opnent
(DCED) opened a w ndow of opportunity to give a corporation 60
or 90 days to apply and be reinstated as a corporation.
Currently, three corporations have been involuntarily dissolved.
He said this is the fourth tinme this bill has gone through the
| egi slature in 15 years.

CHAIR BUNDE asked if an expense is involved in going through
this process.

MR. LABOLLE replied there is an expense and penalties have to be
paid as well. The departnment assured himthat if the fiscal note
wasn’'t zero, it would be a positive, but so slight that it would
be i nconsequenti al .

CHAIR BUNDE said he hoped that next tine around, there wouldn't

even be three, because they'll realize it's costing them noney
to do this.

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -12- March 11, 2003



MR. LABOLLE replied that is probably the case. The first tinme
this happened all of the villages weren't renote, but this tine
they are very renote.

TAPE 03-10, SIDE B

SENATOR FRENCH asked how often Native corporations need to be
reaut hori zed.

MR. LABOLLE replied every three or five years.

SENATOR FRENCH commented that's probably why the villages are in
troubl e.

M5. ALI CE HOUSTQON, Corporation Supervisor, DCED, clarified that
corporations of any type have to file bi-annual reports every
ot her year. After two years, post offices don't forward mail so
if the departnent hasn't been notified of an address change, the
corporations don't get the notice.

SENATOR FRENCH recapped that every two years the corporations
have to renew their authorization; npbst renenber and a few
don't.

M5. HOUSTON agreed and added that nost renenber; others are
remnded with notices by certified mail. After the dissolution
takes place, they have two years to reinstate before they get to
this point.

SENATOR FRENCH asked how many Native corporations exist.
M5. HOUSTON replied that there are 119 ANGSA cor porations.

CHAIR BUNDE asked if she could answer his question about the
cost to the corporation.

M5. HOUSTON replied that a for-profit corporation's bi-annual
fee is $100; the late penalty is $37.50. Once a corporation is
di ssol ved, the fee is double or $275 for each two-year period.

CHAIR BUNDE asked why they nust reauthorize bi-annually and
whether it would make nore sense to reauthorize every five
years.

M5. HOUSTON replied that she didn't know the history, but she
t hought she would have nore trouble getting notices to folks

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -13- March 11, 2003



every five years. She pointed out the bi-annual requirenent is
in statute.

CHAI R BUNDE asked why paperwork needs to be generated over this.

SENATOR SEEKI NS responded that he thought a |ot of corporations
just voluntarily dissolve. It takes no affirmative action on
DCED s part and it has a chance, on a regular basis, to clean
out the corporations that didn't renew.

M5. HOUSTON agreed and said requiring the information every five
years woul d make it outdated.

CHAIR BUNDE asked if the information equaled the cost of
generating that paper work.

MS. HOUSTON sai d she would research that for him

SENATOR STEVENS asked if it is true that the communities are
very renote or unsophisticated.

M5. HOUSTON replied that nost of the corporations were very
smal | and were dissolved in 2000 or earlier.

SENATOR SEEKI NS asked when a corporation voluntarily dissolves
and then applies for reinstatenent, if there is any other
exam nation to see whether it has acted as a corporation to
i ssue the certificate.

M5. HOUSTON replied that DCED is just a filing agency and
doesn't do any investigation.

CHAIR BUNDE said they would bring the bill up again after sone
wor k and adjourned the neeting at 2:25 p.m

SENATE L& C COWM TTEE -14- March 11, 2003



